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RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
Pursuant to notice, a final hearing was conducted in this 

case on March 10, 2009, in Tampa, Florida, before Administrative 

Law Judge R. Bruce McKibben of the Division of Administrative 

Hearings.    
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The issue in this case is whether Respondent, Target 

Corporation (hereinafter "Target"), discriminated against 

Petitioner, Victoria Fabiano ("Fabiano"), in violation of the 

Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, as amended, Section 760.10, 



Florida Statutes (2008),1 and, if so, what penalty should be 

imposed.  

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Fabiano attended a grand opening at Target's new store 

identified as the West Hillsborough, Oldsmar Super Target (the 

"Store") on October 14, 2007.  On July 5, 2008, Fabiano filed a 

Public Accommodation Complaint of Discrimination with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations ("Commission") concerning 

events that allegedly transpired during the grand opening.  The 

Commission entered an Amended Determination: No Cause, on 

October 30, 2008.  Fabiano timely filed a request for formal 

administrative hearing to contest the Commission's decision.  

The request for hearing was forwarded to the Division of 

Administrative Hearings ("DOAH") on November 21, 2008, and 

assigned to the undersigned Administrative Law Judge. 

Pursuant to notice, a final hearing was held in this matter 

on March 10, 2009, in Tampa, Florida.  At the final hearing, 

Fabiano, representing herself, testified and called two other 

witnesses:  her parents, Nick Fabiano and Mary Fabiano.  Fabiano 

offered no exhibits into evidence.  Target called three 

witnesses:  Andre R. Mercado, executive team leader for assets 

protection; Charlene Schroeder, executive team leader of the 

food department; and Victor Albino, guest services team leader.  
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Target offered the following exhibits into evidence, each of 

which was admitted:  

1. Training program materials;  
2. Response model from the training materials;  
3. De-escalation scenarios provided to Target team 

leaders;  
4. Target guide for helping persons with 

disabilities;  
5. A DVD from a surveillance camera at the Store; and 
6. A diagram showing the front entrance of the Store. 

 
The parties advised the undersigned that a transcript of the 

final hearing would be ordered.  The parties were given ten days 

from the date the transcript was filed at DOAH to submit 

proposed recommended orders.  The Transcript was filed on 

March 20, 2009.  Petitioner submitted its post-hearing 

submission on March 31, 2009.  Respondent's Proposed Recommended 

Order was filed on March 30, 2009.   Each party's Proposed 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were considered in the 

preparation of this Recommended Order.  

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Fabiano is an adult Caucasian female who resides in 

Tampa, Florida, with her parents.  She suffers from dystonia, a 

muscle disorder that causes Fabiano to experience fairly 

constant pain.  She is under treatment for the condition.  The 

condition does not create any obvious limp or change in 

Fabiano's gait.  It does, from time to time, result in a large 

lump rising up on Fabiano's neck or head.          
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2.  On October 14, 2007, Fabiano attended a grand opening 

ceremony at a new Target Super Center in Hillsborough County.  

She was accompanied by her parents.  The purpose of their visit 

that day was to purchase some specialty breads they had seen 

advertised and to look at a DVD player.   

3.  Upon arrival at the Store, Fabiano saw that a ceremony 

of some sort was going on in front of the entrance to the Store.  

There were numerous people standing out front, but Fabiano did 

not have a clear view of the children who were performing.  In 

fact, by the time Fabiano arrived at the Store (at approximately 

7:45 a.m.), the festivities were essentially over.  The Store 

was scheduled to open at 8:00 a.m., that morning.   

4.  The grand opening ceremony had included a presentation 

by a local elementary school's chorus and percussion band.  The 

students had been placed on risers just in front of the main 

entrance.  The school's percussion instruments had been set up 

near the risers.  Both the instruments and the risers partially 

blocked the main entrance to the Store. 

5.  After the ceremony was over (at a few minutes before 

8:00 a.m.), a Target employee announced to everyone waiting 

outside that the Store was open, but all guests were asked to 

use the entrance down by the garden section.  The garden 

entrance was some distance from the front entrance.   
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6.  Fabiano and her parents came to the front entrance of 

the Store as Target employees and school volunteers were putting 

away the children's instruments, taking down the risers, and 

clearing the front entrance area.  Fabiano asked to be let in 

the front entrance, but was informed that it would be unsafe to 

do so until the area had been cleared.  Fabiano may have asked 

for admission through the front entrance more than one time and 

perhaps to more than one employee. 

7.  While Fabiano and her father continued to attempt to 

enter at the front entrance, Fabiano's mother walked down to the 

garden entrance where other guests were being admitted.    

8.  After Fabiano's mother left, Fabiano and her father 

continued to complain about not being let in the front entrance.  

At approximately 8:06 a.m., they were allowed to enter an 

employee door located just adjacent to the front entrance.   

9.  Fabiano says she could not walk to the garden entrance, 

because she was in pain.  However, there is no credible evidence 

that any Target employee was aware of her pain or could 

ascertain that she had a handicap of any kind.  Fabiano did not 

ask for assistance, nor did she ask for a wheelchair.  In fact, 

Fabiano's mother said Fabiano did better when she walked, rather 

than just standing still.  Fabiano testified that she had 

trouble getting out of a wheelchair after sitting down for a 

while.  
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10. Due to the fact that Fabiano was visibly upset about 

not being allowed in via the front door and because she was loud 

in her remonstrations, a Target employee called for assistance 

from the leader-on-duty (LDO).  The LDO on that day was Andre 

Mercado.  Mercado got the call and began walking toward the 

front of the Store to deal with whatever problem that might be 

occurring. 

11. Upon entering the Store, Fabiano and her father first 

stopped to obtain a shopping cart.  Just as they got to the 

shopping cart area, Mercado intercepted them and identified 

himself as the manager on duty or the LOD.  From the 

surveillance video from that day, it appears that Fabiano's 

father thrust the shopping cart toward Mercado in a somewhat 

aggressive fashion.  Mercado stepped back and began talking with 

Fabiano and her father. 

12. Fabiano and her father were still upset at that time 

about not being granted admission through the front doors.  

Fabiano was talking loud and being somewhat animated in her 

movements.  There is no audio on the surveillance tape that was 

shown, but competent and credible testimony from witnesses 

establishes that Fabiano was loud and angry.2  Her motions on the 

surveillance video are consistent with that testimony. 

13. Fabiano told Mercado that she had a lump on her neck 

or head and offered to allow him to touch it (which he refused).  
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She did not ask for a wheelchair or ask for any assistance in 

shopping.  She did, however, continue to complain to Mercado 

about being made to stand outside the Store while the entrance 

was being cleared.  

14. Mercado used the training provided by Target to 

address the situation which he faced.  He tried first to offer 

assistance and then to defuse Fabiano's anger by offering a 

small gift.  (The Store was providing gift bags to shoppers that 

day as part of the grand opening, and Mercado offered to get one 

for Fabiano.) 

15. Fabiano was not appeased by Mercado's offer and 

continued to voice her Complaint.  Several persons nearby turned 

to look at Fabiano and Mercado as they came into the Store.  Two 

Target employees who were nearby heard Fabiano yelling and using 

"swear words" as she talked to Mercado.  There were several 

shoppers, including children, in the immediate area where 

Fabiano and Mercado were talking.  

16. After a few minutes of talking, Mercado told Fabiano 

that she either needed to calm down and go shopping, or she 

should leave the store.  Fabiano understood that Mercado was 

ejecting her from the Store.  She asked, incredulously, "Oh my 

God!  Are you kicking me out?"  Mercado explained the options 

again and Fabiano--seeking to give Mercado an opportunity to 
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change his mind--tried to stall Mercado by asking for the phone 

number to Target's corporate headquarters.  

17. Mercado led Fabiano and her father to the guest 

services area and provided a telephone number for Target's 

corporate offices.  He then led them towards the front door and 

held it open so they could leave.  Just at that time, Fabiano's 

mother joined them and walked out of the Store with them.  As 

the Fabiano family exited, Mercado turned around and came back 

into the Store.  

18. Fabiano maintains that Mercado refused to allow her 

mother to go get their car and bring it to the front door.  She 

says Mercado followed her and her family out the door into the 

parking lot, making them walk hurriedly to their car.  There is 

absolutely no credible evidence to support that claim.  The 

surveillance video clearly shows Mercado remaining in the Store 

as the Fabianos left.   

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

19. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties to and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to Section 120.569 and Subsection 120.57(1), 

Florida Statutes.  In her initial Complaint of discrimination 

against Target, Fabiano claims that she was "harassed, denied 

reasonable accommodations, and denied access to goods/services 

because of [her] disability."   
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20. Section 760.08, Florida Statutes, states:    

Discrimination in places of public 
accommodation.  All persons shall be 
entitled to the full and equal enjoyment of 
the goods, services, facilities, privileges, 
advantages, and accommodations of any place 
of public accommodation, as defined in this 
chapter, without discrimination or 
segregation on the ground of race, color, 
national origin, sex, handicap, familial 
status, or religion. 

 
21. The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (the "Act") is 

codified in Sections 760.01 through 760.11 and 509.092, Florida 

Statutes.  The Act is modeled after Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, 42. U.S.C. Section 2000, et seq.  Therefore, 

case law interpreting Title VII is also relevant to cases 

brought under the Act.  Florida Department of Community Affairs 

v. Bryant, 586 So. 2d 1205, 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). 

22. The Act is construed in accordance with the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. Section 12101, et seq., 

when the charge of discrimination is based on a disability.  

Razner v. Wellington Regional Medical Center, Inc., 837 So. 2d 

437, 440 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).   

23. Petitioner has the burden of proof that she was the 

victim of a discriminatory act.  See Department of Banking and 

Finance, Division of Securities and Investor Protection v. 

Osborne Stern and Company, 670 So. 2d 932, 934 (Fla. 1996), 

wherein the Court stated:  "The general rule is that a party 
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asserting the affirmative of an issue has the burden of 

presenting evidence as to that issue." 

24. In order to support a claim of discrimination under 

the Florida Civil Rights Act, Fabiano must first establish that 

she is a member of a protected class.  In her initial Complaint 

with the Commission, Fabiano states that she has a muscle 

disorder which causes her severe pain and difficulty walking.  

She states that condition is her "disability" for purposes of 

her Complaint.  There was, however, no corroboration of her 

disability proven through medical testimony.  

25. In a discrimination case, the petitioner has the 

initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 

93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973).  If the petitioner 

proves a prima facie case of discrimination, the burden shifts 

to the respondent to proffer a legitimate, non-discriminatory 

reason for the action it took.  Texas Department of Community 

Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 

207 (1981).   The respondent's burden is one of production, not 

persuasion.  The burden then shifts back to the petitioner to 

prove that the proffered reason is pretext and that the 

respondent intentionally discriminated against the petitioner.  

Id. at 252-256.  
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26. Fabiano carries the initial burden under the Florida 

Civil Rights Act of establishing a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  This may be done by showing:  (i) that she is 

handicapped; (ii) that she attempted to engage in a lawful 

business activity at Target, i.e., shopping; (iii) that, despite 

being able and willing to shop, she was denied the right; and 

(iv) that, although she was denied the right, other non-

handicapped persons were allowed to shop.  

27. The word "handicap" is not defined in the Act.  

However, in School Board of Nassau County v. Arline, 480 U.S. 

273, 107 S. Ct. 1123, 94 L. Ed. 2d 307 (1987), the court said:  

In 1974 Congress expanded the definition of 
"handicapped individual" for use in § 504 of 
the Rehabilitation Act to read as follows: 
"Any person who (i) has a physical or mental 
impairment which substantially limits one or 
more of such person's major life activities, 
(ii) has a record of such an impairment, or 
(iii) is regarded as having such an 
impairment."  29 U.S.C.S. § 706(7)(B). 
 

Id. at 278. 
 
28. No evidence was presented at final hearing to support 

Fabiano's claim that she is handicapped.  Her unsubstantiated 

testimony that she suffers pain as a result of her dystonia does 

not, without medical corroboration, establish that her 

impairment substantially limits one or more major life 

activities.  It is clearly a condition that manifests itself 
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with pain, but whether it limited Fabiano's major life 

activities was not discussed.      

29. However, assuming, in arguendo, that Fabiano met the 

initial burden, the burden then shifts to Target to articulate 

some legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its refusal to 

allow Fabiano to shop.  The evidence is clear that Fabiano was 

asked to leave the Store solely because of her behavior, i.e., 

she and her father were loud, abusive, and disruptive.   

30. The burden then shifts back to Fabiano to show that 

Target's stated reasons are mere pretext and that the real 

reason for denial was due to Fabiano's handicap.  Fabiano says 

no one offered her a wheelchair, but she also admitted that she 

never asked for one.  Nor did she ever tell a Target employee 

that she was handicapped and needed special accommodations.  

Rather, she railed against the employees for their failure to 

allow her entry through an unsafe doorway.  Fabiano did not meet 

her burden of proof.  

31. Though not raised by Target as a defense in this 

matter, it should be noted that the Store is not within the 

definition of a public accommodation.  Subsection 769.02(11), 

Florida Statutes, defines "public accommodations" to mean: 

  [P]laces of public accommodation, 
lodgings, facilities principally engaged in 
selling food for consumption on the 
premises, gasoline stations, places of 
exhibition or entertainment, and other 
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covered establishments.  Each of the 
following establishments which serves the 
public is a place of public accommodation 
within the meaning of this section:  
 
  (a)  Any inn, hotel, motel, or other 
establishment which provides lodging to 
transient guests, other than an 
establishment located within a building 
which contains not more than four rooms for 
rent or hire and which is actually occupied 
by the proprietor of such establishment as 
his or her residence.  
 
  (b)  Any restaurant, cafeteria, lunchroom, 
lunch counter, soda fountain, or other 
facility principally engaged in selling food 
for consumption on the premises, including, 
but not limited to, any such facility 
located on the premises of any retail 
establishment, or any gasoline station.  
 
  (c)  Any motion picture theater, theater, 
concert hall, sports arena, stadium, or 
other place of exhibition or entertainment.  
 
  (d)  Any establishment which is physically 
located within the premises of any 
establishment otherwise covered by this 
subsection, or within the premises of which 
is physically located any such covered 
establishment, and which holds itself out as 
serving patrons of such covered 
establishment.  
 

32. Based upon the doctrine of expression unius est 

exclusion alterius, the fact that retail stores, such as the one 

at issue in this proceeding are not specifically listed in 

Subsection 760.02(11), Florida Statutes, reflects a legislative 

intent that that statute does not encompass such establishments.  
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See Sheely v. MRI Radiology Network, P.A., 505 F.3d 1173, 

1204-05 (11th Cir. 2007).   

RECOMMENDATION

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

 RECOMMENDED that a final order be entered by the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations dismissing Petitioner, Victoria 

Fabiano's, Complaint in its entirety.  

DONE AND ENTERED this 6th day of April, 2009, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

                   

R. BRUCE MCKIBBEN 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 6th day of April, 2009. 

 
 

ENDNOTES 
 
1/  All references to the Florida Statutes in this Recommended 
Order shall be to the 2008 codification. 
 
2/  In fact, in her post-hearing submission, Fabiano admits that 
she was loud (and was not using a "library voice"). 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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